IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,928

CHARLES STREET,

Appellant,

-V\$-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CHARLES STREET

Lee Weissenborn, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 086064 Oldhouse 235 N.E. 26th Street Miami, Florida 33137 (305) 573-3160 Geoffrey C. Fleck, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 199001 FRIEND, FLECK & GETTIS Sunset Station Plaza 5975 Sunset Drive Penthouse 802 South Miami, Florida 33143 (305) 667-5777

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At 6:00 p.m. on Sunday, November 27, 1988, the day before the shootings of Officers Richard Boles and David Strzalkowski, Florida Highway Patrol Trooper Alan Major was dispatched to a "Signal 20" -a mentally-ill person suspected of trying to jump off a northbound I-95 overpass at Northwest 79th Street. [TR 9340] He found Street kneeling on the ground with his arms nervously wrapped around the guard rail. [TR 9346] As Major approached, he turned off the front portion of his emergency lights not wanting to frighten what the dispatcher had confirmed was a "disturbed person." [TR 9348] Immediately upon his arrival, Street appeared relieved and ran towards the officer. [TR 9350] Street complied with the officer's order to stop and place his hands on the police vehicle. [TR 9351-52] A thorough search of Street's person revealed nothing. [TR 9353-9357]

Street told Major that he lived in Boynton Beach and was trying to hitchhike home. Street told Major that he was scared he might fall off the bridge. [TR 9394] He explained that the "bridge" shook when trucks drove over it and he became "real nervous." [TR 9360] Street said he was trying to locate his girlfriend in Liberty City whom he had not seen in nine years since he had just gotten out of prison. Major offered that Street wore brand-new shoes and pants, the type which "they give you in prison." [TR 9362] Street said he had been chased by "some guys" who "thought that he could be a snitch...". [TR 9363] Major offered Street a ride (in handcuffs for his safety) to the county line. Their conversation was cut short, however, by the officer's need to respond to a nearby automobile accident. [TR 9365] Major described Street as coherent and reported to the dispatcher that there was no need for a "Signal 20." [TR 9370] However, Major did not believe anyone was mentally ill unless they said they were being chased by nonexistent pursuers or that they had seen flying saucers. [TR 9467-9470] Major did not determine Street to be under the influence of alcohol or narcotic drugs. [TR 9376-9378] Backup trooper Aubrey Brunson also searched the defendant and found nothing. [TR 9477] He, too, denied observing of the defendant any symptoms of intoxication. [TR 9484-87]

Street, however, was nervous because the bridge was shaking and said he did not want to fall off. [TR 9535-36] He complained that "some guys chased him." [TR 9534]

At 12:18 a.m. the following morning, EMT Peterson responded to a dispatch of an "unknown reference." [TR 9574-75] Four minutes later the rescue truck responded to a service station at 19255 Biscayne Boulevard. [TR 9576] Upon seeing "the patient" Street, fire fighter Higginbotham made the statement, "this is a Baker Act." [TR 9579] Street explained that he had been harassed by some people, that they had left some food along the way which he had eaten, that the people had come back and told him the food was poisoned, and that he was suffering from diarrhea. [TR 9584-85]

At one point, in apparent fear, Street said, "are you going to leave me here to be murdered?". [TR 9660] Later, Street said he had faked eating the food. [TR 9586] After the shootings, Peterson created notes indicating that Street was not intoxicated. [TR 9588-90] Rescue personnel stayed with Street for an hour and a half. [TR 9592] At one point, a white car passed by which Street indicated was one of the vehicles containing the people harassing him. [TR 9609] Peterson called for the police. [TR 9612] One of the officers who responded was Officer Boles. [TR 9615]

Officer Eric Rossman also responded to the service station. After listening to Street's complaint that people were throwing rocks at him and his announcement that there were people with guns on a nearby roof trying to kill him, Rossman told Street they could not take him to Boynton Beach. Street responded, "Fuck you; you cops do not care." [TR 9928] Except for his complaint of stomach pains and cramps, Street exhibited no signs of illness. Rossman specifically concluded that Street exhibited no symptoms of cocaine use or cocaine psychosis. [TR 9931-9934] However, Rossman had described Street as "unresponsive, at best." [TR 9936] In his police report, Rossman described Street as "extremely agitated" and "paranoid." [TR 9992-9993] Rossman testified that he meant to say "hostile."

Street alternatively asked to go home, to go to the hospital, and for police protection. [TR 9617] Ultimately, an ambulance was summoned. While waiting, Street said, "there is

a black man on the roof that is going to shoot me, over there" but he made no attempt to move. [TR 9631-32] When Street was informed that the only objects on a nearby warehouse roof were a vent and a white flag, Street said, "that is a black guy fucking a white chick." [TR 9634]

When the ambulance personnel arrived, Street refused to go to Jackson [Memorial Hospital]. Ambulance driver Joseph Pharol described Street as quiet and calm until he overheard that he was being taken to Jackson Memorial Hospital, where upon he yelled, "No Jackson! I'm not going to Jackson!" [TR 9850] After Officer [Boles] asked Street whether he wanted to go to the hospital or be dropped off at the county line, Street simply jumped out of the ambulance. [TR 9853-54] Pharol observed no signs of intoxication. [TR 9857] He admitted, however, thinking there was "something strange" about Street. [TR 9890] Street said (falsely) that he had a wife and kids and indicated that he had to get to work. [TR 9638]

After leaving the scene, Peterson saw Street again, jogging and then walking in the area of 196th Street. [TR 9642] Peterson, however, concluded that there was nothing wrong with Street or his conduct. [TR 9650] Detective Riley Smith responded to the service station and, in the minute or so that he spent with Street, noticed nothing unusual about him. [TR 9732-9750] Sergeant Albert Llapur also responded to the scene and observed nothing unusual about the defendant. [TR 9785]

An hour and a half later at about 2:19 a.m., a call went out reporting a black male causing a disturbance near a trailer park at 200th Street and West Dixie Highway. Rossman, Boles, and Strzalkowski responded. [TR 9954] K-9 officer Steven Anderson responded to a call of a man hurt and screaming, reportedly throwing rocks at vehicles. [TR 10393] Florent Verner testified that he heard a man screaming, "Help me, help me" outside his trailer at the Lone Pine Mobile Village. [TR 10077] Verner went outside to investigate as a police unit arrived. He followed the police car to where the man was running across Ives Dairy Road. [TR 10086]

Street ran in circles on Biscayne Boulevard as the first police car circled him. [TR 10138] Ultimately, another police vehicle arrived and he stopped. [TR 10095] A police officer exited each of the vehicles and one of them asked, "What is wrong?" [TR 10110] The officers positioned themselves on either side of Street and tried to take him by his arm(s). [TR 10113] Street pushed both officers against the car. [TR 10115] Four or five shots rang out and Verner saw one of the officers fall to the ground. [TR 10119] The other officer ran around the car and Street gave chase. Verner heard another gunshot or two and heard Street say, "Now, I have got my lift." [TR 10122-23] Street entered the police vehicle and drove north. [TR 10124] Five minutes later an emergency call went over the air when Officers Strzalkowski and Boles failed to answer their radios. [TR 9768] Boles' last radio transmission stated, "we are going to approach him now." [TR 9955]

Shortly before, Officer Boles had issued a radio broadcast involving "a violent 43" -43 referring to the involuntary psychiatric commitment under the "Baker Act." [TR 9794-95] Llapur testified that "43" also constituted police jargon for "a flaming asshole." [TR 9807] Boles requested another unit because Street was running around in the road and was in danger of being hit. [TR 9796] Two minutes later, the officers were shot. [TR 9797] Various officers responded. Boles and Strzalkowski were found lying, shot, in the roadway. One of their service revolvers and one of their police cruisers were missing. [TR 9959]

Rossman spoke to eye-witness Brad Baker. Baker said a large black male came from the side of the road and threw a pipe at his car. Shortly thereafter, two police officers arrived and confronted the subject. Based on the information supplied, Rossman issued a BOLO. [TR 9974-9978]

At approximately 2:25 a.m., Hallandale police officer Patrick Seals observed the defendant driving a green and white Metro-Dade police car with its overhead lights on traveling north on Federal Highway. [TR 10442] When Seals heard on his police radio that a black male suspect traveling northbound into Broward County in a marked metro unit had just shot two officers, he and officer Morantz gave chase. [TR 10453-10456] The

defendant got away while negotiating a tight corner when Seals and Morantz crashed into each other. [TR 10459-10468]

Charlene Warner returned to her apartment on Charleston Street, Hollywood after going to the movies. She saw a marked patrol car with its emergency lights on in proximity to a small, red car occupied by Crystal Green and Jeremiah [Love] Locke. [TR 10566-10572] She watched as a large black man pointed a rifle at Green and Lock and stole their car. [TR 10575-10579] Warner later observed a small hole in a window of the patrol car, like a bullet hole, and blood inside. [TR 10583-84] She identified the black man as the defendant. [TR 10585] She did not think Street was high. [TR 10586] The defendant's hands were trembling on the gun and he appeared possibly paranoid. [TR 10593-94]

Crystal Green described Street's robbery of her mother's car. She described Street as looking "scared and frightened" and as if he "could have been on some type of drugs." [TR 10630] He looked "[kind] of crazy" and wild and when she looked at his eyes she could see something was wrong or strange about him. [TR 10632] After Street ordered Green out of the car, he said, "I just killed your cousin". [TR 10633]

Hollywood police officer Sejda received a broadcast at approximately 2:20 a.m. relating to the shootings of the two Metro-Dade police officers. [TR 10700] Traveling east towards I-95 on Stirling Road, Sejda saw a small red car traveling very slowly towards him with its headlights off. [TR 10702-06] Sejda pulled next to the vehicle, made eye contact with Street and tried to inform him of his inoperative headlights when the small red car accelerated away from him. [TR 10712] The officer initiated pursuit, lost sight of the red vehicle, and ultimately came upon a black male, yelling. [TR 10720] Street had his hands over his head in surrender. [TR 10721] He said, "I shot two cops. Please don't kill me." [TR 10723] A revolver was lying on the street approximately five to ten feet from him. [TR 10726] Street fell to his knees and flipped over onto his back. [TR 10727] Street spoke clearly and did not appear to Sejda to be under the influence of any drug or alcohol. [TR 10729] Street was bound hand and foot and taken into custody. [TR 10729-30] A police-

issue pump shotgun was recovered from the scene. [TR 10733] Street spoke very loudly, repeating himself for several minutes. [TR 10739]

Officer Gregory Mentzer saw Street exit the red car and throw a .38 caliber Smith and Wesson out onto Stirling Road as Mentzer trained his pistol at him. [TR 10771] He described how, when Street was laid over the trunk of the police vehicle, he began thrashing violently. [TR 10782] Street initially tried to hide in a nearby bush or tree. [TR 10027] During the search of his person, Street became violent, started kicking, and resisted the officers. [TR 10039] The defendant was restrained with rope. [TR 10042] Street continued to yell, "Don't kill me. Don't shoot me. Don't kill me", in a very loud tone of voice. [TR 10785] Although apparently frightened, Street did not look to Mentzer to be under the influence of cocaine. [TR 10788]

Once at the jail, although conscious, Street remained unresponsive to the officers' attempts to fingerprint and photograph him. [TR 10824] Numerous officers picked him up and carried him as he mumbled and chanted something like, "Chaka Zulu." [TR 10829] During the fingerprinting process, Street said, "I could head-butt you like I head-butt those other two cops." [TR 10832] And "I could take this other arm and whoop you to death with that one." [TR 10832] He said, "You think you had me like those other two cops had me." [TR 10834] Booking officer Gregory Mentzer described Street as calm, alert and conscious. [TR 10842] Mentzer did not believe Street was under the influence of cocaine. [TR 10844]

When Mentzer clicked Street's handcuffs off, Street asked, "Are you going to shoot me now?" [TR 10858] Upon Street's strip-search, it was discovered that he had urinated and defecated on himself. [TR 10859]

The state recalled officer Steven Anderson to testify that he saw the defendant between 6:30 and 7:00 a.m. in the Broward County Jail after his arrest. [TR 10475] Anderson testified that the defendant glared through the plexiglas window of his cell door and smirked at him. [TR 10489-90]

Technician Richard Ecott took hand swabs from Street after his arrest in Broward County. [TR 11218] Street said nothing and did not resist. [TR 11290]

When visited by public defender Tom Gallagher, Street refused to sign a document intended to protect his constitutional rights while in police custody. [TR 11437]

Street was transported from Broward to Dade County in an unmarked vehicle with tinted windows known as a "Baker Act Unit." [TR 11437] The police said its use had nothing to do with Street's mental condition. [TR 11438]

While being transported, Street looked at Officer Mike Santos and calmly said, "You should be glad that the mother-fucker is dead. You should congratulate me." [TR 11559]

Criminalists Brendon McBea determined from his examination of gun power residue on the shattered window of the police vehicle that a firearm had been discharged from the inside out. [TR 11602] While attending to Street's injuries after his transport to Dade County, Sergeant David Rivers heard Street repeat, several times, words to the effect, "I didn't mean to kill them, I didn't want to kill, I am sorry." [TR 11651]

Lieutenant Michael Castillo, who treated Street for a head injury, saw no indication that Street was under the influence of any type of drug or alcohol. [TR 11701]

Medical examiner Valerie Rao described a non-debilitating injury to Boles's abdomen consistent with a firearm projectile impact through his bullet-proof vest. [TR 11731-11734] Boles suffered a contact gun shot wound to the left armpit and a bullet wound to the left shoulder. [TR 11758-11760] She also described a bruise and a fatal gun shot to Officer Boles's face. [TR 11779-11783] Boles had abrasions to his wrist and knee. [TR 11785-11786-11791] Rao explained that the flow of blood into Boles's lungs ended his breathing. [TR 11791]

Officer Strzalkowski suffered a bruise to his upper left arm and defensive injuries to the palm and back of his left hand. [TR 11794-11797] His back was bruised from a gun shot into his bullet-proof vest. He sustained a non-fatal gun shot wound to the upper left back. [TR 11799-11803] Strzalkowski lived long enough for his brain to swell and push out through the bullet hole. [TR 11818]

Rao directed that blood and urine be taken from Street out of concern that defense lawyers would attempt to find "loop holes." [TR 11838-11840] Rao circled the police report reference to the "Baker Acting" of Street as an issue that defense lawyers would be particularly interested in. [TR 11853]

A Glades correctional officer related that in September, 1987, inmate Street told him, "I will kill the next mother-fucker that tries to bring me back to prison." [TR 9295] The officer made no mention of the statement to anyone or in a contemporaneously prepared disciplinary report. [TR 9300-9301]

DEFENSE CASE

Blanche Lee saw Street on the I-95 bridge acting like he was going to jump. Lee summoned his employer who ran to the bridge and repeatedly told Street to sit down. During a 15 minute conversation, Street asked that the police be called. When told that the police would take him to jail, Street said, "I don't care. All I want to do is get down." [TR 11891-11896] The police were summoned but, in the forty minutes it took them to arrive, Street was concerned that the police were not coming and kept saying, "They not coming; They not coming." [TR 11896-11897] Lee described Street as "nutted up", like he was going crazy. [TR 11899]

Barbara Bowers drew blood from the defendant at 9:10 a.m. pursuant to court order because Street had claimed that he had been poisoned. [TR 11973] An analysis of Street's blood revealed the presence of a cocaine metabolite, indicating the ingestion of cocaine at some point in time. [TR 12231] It could not be determined when the cocaine was ingested, how much was consumed, or the degree of Street's intoxication at any given time. [TR 12233-12235] The fact that Street's blood pressure and pulse were normal when tested by rescue personnel indicated that the physiological manifestations of the cocaine had worn off. [TR 12245]

Jeremiah Love, the Broward County robbery victim, described the defendant as looking sweaty, as having big eyes, and as looking scared and frightened. He looked paranoid, like he was in a rage, and wild. [TR 12131-12132]

When Street called 911 and asked for assistance, he said, "I am going to call my mother." His mother, in fact, had died over a year earlier. [TR 12192, 12195]

Mental health technician Eric Reznick saw Street on Biscayne Boulevard waving his hands in the air and shouting at passing cars. [TR 12260] He was screaming profanities. [TR 12261] Resnick spoke to Street who said "Society sucks" and rambled illogically about communism taking over the world. [TR 12263-12264] Street continued to repeat himself over and over and appeared to be disoriented. He was "kind of wobbly" and slurred his speech. He spoke only in phrases, not complete thoughts. [TR 12264-12265] He was not rational. His eyes were very red. [TR 12265] He was agitated and moved fast. [TR 12269] In Resnick's opinion, Street appeared to be intoxicated. [TR 12270]

Bradley Baker was traveling southbound on Biscayne Boulevard at 2:00 a.m. on November 28, 1988. He heard Street hollering and saw him throw a two foot long pipe towards his car. [TR 12430-12431] Baker subsequently watched as Boles and Strzalkowski confronted Street. A struggle ensued during which one officer reached for his handcuffs and the other reached for his gun. [TR 12435-12439] As the second officer reached for his gun as well, two or three shots ran out and he fell to the ground. [TR 12443] Street knocked the second officer down, picked up his gun, and said, "I'm getting out of here." [TR 12444] Baker never saw who fired the shots and did not see Street with a gun in his hand. [TR 12443-12444] As Baker laid down in the seat of his car, he heard two more shots. [TR 12445] The entire event took between a minute and a minute in a half. [TR 12446]

Arthur Lindahl, a resident of the Long Pine Trailer Park heard a man yelling, "Help, help. Call the police. Help, call Flo. Flo, call the police." in a very loud voice over and over. [TR 12506] He saw a man on the railroad tracks 55 feet away and saw a police car

coming towards him. [TR 12531] He thought the man was on alcohol or drugs. [TR 12537]

Broward county public defender Tom Gallagher met the defendant in a holding cell prior to his initial magistrate hearing subsequent to his arrest in Broward county. [TR 12886] Gallagher asked Street to execute a "revocation of rights form" to protect him from uncounseled interrogation but Street refused. [TR 12887-12888] Street appeared not to understand what Gallagher was saying. [TR 12888] His eyes darted. He was unable or would not make eye contact. [TR 12889] Gallagher repeated his attempts to obtain Street's signature on the form without success. [TR 12890] Street moved his hands to avoid having his handcuffs removed. [TR 12890]

While in the courtroom, Street screamed out that he wanted to make a phone call. Taken to the judge's chambers, Street was unable to manipulate the telephone dial. [TR 12893] Ultimately, Street reached someone apparently, and said "They are trying to kill me. They are trying to kill me. I want to speak to the press. I want to speak to the press.". [TR 12895] Gallagher concluded that Street did not understand where he was or what was happening to him. He did not believe him to be competent at the time. [TR 12903] He appeared confused and totally disoriented. [TR 12904]

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