SID J. WHITE JAN 25 1993 ELERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,928

CHARLES HARRY STREET,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

ANITA J. GAY Florida Bar # 0745227 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs P.O. Box 013241 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

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

⁸ Nubee, the victim of the attempted murder, had intervened in a fight between Street and Harrell, thus prompting the attack on Nubee by Street.

Detective Bryant, defense counsel did not ask or proffer questions regarding Street's refusal to sign the rights form. (R. 15211-20). It was necessary for the defense to proffer what Detective Bryant would have said in order to preserve this claim for appellate review. <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1990).

XI.

STREET DID NOT PROPERLY PRESERVE HIS OBJECTION TO THE PROSECUTOR'S PENALTY PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Street next argues that the three (3) instances wherein the prosecutor referred to the Bible denied him a fair trial. All but one of these instances are procedurally barred by the failure to object at trial. <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 563 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 1990), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 111 S.Ct. 2910, 115 L.Ed.2d 1073. Furthermore, the argument fails on the merits.

The prosecutor referred to the Sixth Commandment of "thou must not murder" and to the statement, "Be not deceived, for God is not. Whatsoever a man sows, so that much shall he also reap." (R. 15671-73, 15710). However, there was no objection to either comment, and their potential for prejudice falls far short of fundamental error. Defense counsel did object when the prosecutor stated, "Should we excuse the sinner? Should we thank the sinner? Is that our job; is that our obligation under the law?", and the objection was overruled. (R. 15705). However, this comment was invited by, and constituted a fair rebuttal to defense counsel's statement that at sentencing the jury would "have a unique opportunity in this case, "you will have a unique

opportunity to condemn what has happened, to condemn the sin but not condemn the sinner." (R. 14968). Street has not shown that the trial court abused its discretion in permitting the prosecutor to make biblical references. As held by this Court, "[t]he reading of passages from the Bible is not ground for reversal." Paramore v. State, 229 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 1969).

Furthermore, it is hypocritical for Street to assert that the prosecutor's references to the Bible made the sentencing process fundamentally unfair, when defense counsel made the Bible and its teachings a central theme with the following:

We are about to enter into the valley of the shadow of death. I would ask that you reach out for the hand of the Lord as we take this journey. (R. 15729).

This case is going to test your conscience, your conscience hold you before the Creator ... (R. 15731).

Our Christian heritage teaches us that we all have a responsibility to do what we can in our own small way to make this a better world. (R. 15743).

Does the Lord think that we are somehow better than Charlie Street because of our good fortune? (R. 15744).

Let your Judeo-Christian heritage speak to you in the Old testament, on the book of genesis where there is a scripture of how Cain killed his brother, Abel. When it happened, what did the Lord do? What was the Lord trying to teach us in the Book of Genesis, Chapter 4? In the New Testament, the Gospel according to John, Chapter 8, the pharisees brought a woman to see us and they said to the Lord, lord this woman has been caught in adultery and the law of Moses orders that such a woman should be put to death by stoning....What does the Lord teach us about the sanctity of life? The Bible teaches us in Matthew, Chapter 7, the lord will judge us as we judge others. Your verdict on others will be the verdict passed

on you. The Gospel according to Matthew, chapter 25, the Lord said, whatsoever you do to the least of my people you do unto me. (R. 15746-47).

I want to read to you for a moment from my church, a quote paraphrasing the Bible and just leave you with those thoughts. When I was hungry, you gave me to eat. When I was thirsty, you gave me to drink. Now, enter the home of my father....(R. 15748-49).

The Lord tells us that every tear will be wiped away and every wound will be healed. We will want to enter God's house on that day. (R. 15749).

Given the statements of defense counsel, it is not only outrageous to suggest that the statements of the prosecutor were improper, but it is equally outrageous to suggest any reasonable possibility that these statements affected the sentencing verdict. State v. DiGuilio, supra. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE STATE TO PRESENT EVIDENCE OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF STREET'S PRIOR VIOLENT FELONIES.

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in allowing the State to introduce the testimony of Officer Frere and Detective Bryant regarding the events which resulted in Street's prior violent felony convictions for battery on a law enforcement officer and attempted first degree murder. Street's argument that admission of the testimony constituted a misuse of the aggravating circumstance of a prior violent felony is without merit.

Appellant's argument fails because it is proper to introduce during the penalty phase of a capital trial, not only evidence of the prior conviction, but also evidence of the circumstances surrounding any prior conviction involving the use or threat of violence. As held by this Court:

> Testimony concerning the events which resulted in the conviction assists the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime so that the jury can make an informed recommendation as to the appropriate sentence.

<u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1204 (Fla. 1989).

The testimony of Officer Frere and Detective Bryant was relevant to fully apprise the jury of the background of Street's previous convictions, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the evidence.

XII.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED STREET'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHERE IT WAS UNTIMELY AND ANY REFERENCE TO A CADILLAC WAS RELEVANT AND PROPERLY ADMITTED.

Appellant alleges that "time and time again" the prosecutor referred to the fact that Street was driving Cadillacs at the time of his 1977 and 1980 arrests. This "time and time again" consisted of three references, only one of which was preserved by a contemporaneous objection. Furthermore, the references to Cadillacs was relevant and did not vitiate the entire sentencing proceeding.

When Officer Frere testified about Street's 1977 arrest for battery on a law enforcement officer, he stated that Street was driving a Cadillac. There was no objection to this evidence on direct examination, (R. 14971-74), but on redirect, (15039-40), the defense objection was sustained. However, defense counsel did not request a curative instruction to give the trial court the opportunity to cure any error caused by the statement, and the defense motion for mistrial was properly denied. <u>Duest v.</u> State, supra.

A similar procedural default occurred when the defense presented the testimony of a social worker regarding Street's impoverished background, and the State asked whether she was aware that Street had been stopped twice in Cadillacs. (R. 15294). Defense counsel did not object to the question. The social worker continued to testify, (R. 15294-96), until the prosecutor inquired about her knowledge of Street's criminal

XIII.

history. An extensive discussion regarding the defense objection and motion for mistrial followed, yet the reference to a Cadillac was not raised as a basis for objection or mistrial. (R. 15296-It was not until the next witness was testifying that 15337). defense counsel objected to the social worker's testimony (R. 15375). The State properly regarding the Cadillacs. the objection was waived as it was not countered that contemporaneous. Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the for mistrial. (R. 15351 - 52). untimely defense motion Furthermore, any right to raise this allegation of error was again waived where the trial court offered to either give a curative instruction to the jury or to strike the testimony and defense counsel did not accept either option. (R. 15493-96). Duest v. State, supra.

Finally, as argued in issue IX, the State was entitled to cross examine the social worker about the basis for her opinions. Street maintained that his impoverished background was a mitigating factor and evidence that he was driving expensive cars was properly elicited on cross examination to test the basis for and to evaluate the credibility of the social worker's opinion.

XIV.

THE DEATH PENALTY WAS NOT IMPOSED IN AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL MANNER.

Next, Street alleges that the imposition of the death penalty is unconstitutional where insufficient guidance is given to the jury. However, he neglected to raise this argument at trial and is thereby foreclosed from raising it on appeal. <u>Castor</u> v. State, supra.

Furthermore, the constitutionality of the death penalty has been upheld on multiple occasions by both this Court and the United State Supreme Court. <u>Proffitt v. Florida</u>, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (1976); <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 1982); <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 416 U.S. 943, 94 S.Ct. 1950, 40 L.Ed.2d 295 (1974).

XV.

THE PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTIONS DID NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DILUTE THE JURY'S SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY.

Next, Appellant alleges numerous instances where both the prosecutor and judge unconstitutionally diminished the jury's role in violation of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985). (R. 2890-2895, 2904-5, 2950-51, 3065-67, 3142-47, 3309-13, 3371-73, 3379-91, 15651-53). This Court has ruled that <u>Caldwell</u> claims based on these types of comments offer no relief inasmuch as both the prosecutor and judge were correctly stating the law. <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 833, <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 489 U.S. 1071, 109 S.Ct. 1354, 103 L.Ed.2d 822; <u>Combs v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 853 (1988); <u>Hill v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1989).

XVI.

THE DEATH PENALTY IS NOT CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

Street's sixteenth claim regarding the constitutionality of the death penalty is without merit and has been repeatedly rejected by this Court. <u>Patten v. State</u>, 598 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 1992); <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 513 So. 2d 1045 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1079, 108 S.Ct. 1061, 98 L.Ed.2d 1022 (1988); <u>Thomas v.</u> <u>State</u>, 456 So. 2d 454 (Fla. 1984).

Even if this claim is considered in its best light, as an argument advocating the strength of the nonstatutory mitigation, it still fails. The most cogent argument to defeat this claim can be found in the thorough sentencing order which expressly evaluated the nonstatutory mitigation as follows:

> There has also been presented in evidence two matters which require discussion, since they were both presented in mitigation. The easier of these to discuss is the testimony of Gwen Phillip, age nine (9). She testified briefly that the defendant, while he was in prison prior to his November, 1988 release from incarceration, met her when her mother visited the defendant. These meetings were momentary. He then spent two evenings at her home after his release from prison. He has also sent her several cards, letters and gifts on her birthday. Although this was presented by the defense in mitigation, the Court fails to see what value, if any, it was intended to The testimony of a nine-year old achieve. child who barely met the defendant could not tell this Court anything about the defendant's It has virtually no value, and character. this Court does not consider it as a matter in mitigation.

> The second matter is somewhat inter-related to the issue of the lack of formal education and training that the Court evaluated under 921.141 (6) (b), i.e., the evidence of poverty during the defendant's childhood. This evidence was presented through Ms. Cessie Alfonso, a social worker, and through the testimony of the defendant's father, Mr. Otis Street.

> The issue of economic poverty during the defendant's developmental years must be considered, but also must be placed in perspective. The question of an economically deprived childhood must be examined in concert questions of abuse and/or with moral deprivation, as well. It is undisputed that the financial status of the Street family was poor during the defendant's childhood years. The defendant was one of twelve children, and each of the children, as soon as they were able, assisted the family by working in the The family was a subsistence unit fields. which sharecropped land. There was often not

enough food for everyone, and seldom any funds for new clothing, or even birthday or Christmas gifts. However, this was a very close family in which the parents attempted to give the children whatever they could afford. The family atmosphere was never strict or abusive, but rather, kind and loving. The parents were God-fearing and the family regularly attended church services as a unit, and also participated in religious study in the home. There was no evidence presented of any type of misconduct or illegality by the defendant while he was a juvenile, and his first contact with police came after his 19th birthday. Even then the father and mother counselled the defendant, arranged for employment, and attempted to lead him back to a moral path.

This Court cannot dispute the defendant's poverty while he grew up. However, the Court must independently decide if this "fact" is truly of a mitigating nature. Campbell v. State, 15 FLW S342 (Fla. June 14, 1990). While the defendant's childhood was economically deprived, this Court cannot come to the conclusion that, as a whole, he had a deprived childhood. Although it is proposed as mitigation, the Court cannot agree to give it the status of a mitigating circumstance. Economic fortunes which do not reach the depths deprivation or of which are not accompanied by a cruel and abused life cannot sufficient to reasonably convince this be Court of the existence of such a mitigating circumstance. Therefore, this non-statutory mitigating circumstance is found not to exist in this case.

The Court must now address the value to be given to the matters which it had previously addressed and rejected as to 921.141 (6) (b) due to its finding that there did not exist any <u>extreme</u> mental or emotional disturbance while the defendant was committing the capital felonies.

While the statutory mitigating circumstance (6) (b) was found not to have been proven, the Court could not disregard the defendant's mental and emotional state during the commission of these crimes. It is unnecessary to repeat the findings under (6) (b), but the use of cocaine, although there was no proof of the amount, if any, in the defendant's body or blood, nor the specific effect of cocaine on his mental abilities, his lack of formal

education and training, low I.Q. and low level of brain functioning are valid "facts" in Although they do not reach the mitigation. statutory level of "extreme", there is evidence of a degree of disturbance which influenced the defendant's actions. Dr. analysis testimony Eisenstein's and on September 13, 1990 that there was an "extreme" emotional disturbance is mental or the questionable due to evidence of defendant's conduct, and this does qualify for consideration.

This must be considered by this Court as being proven to the degree that this Court is reasonably convinced of its existence and reasonably convinced of its value in mitigation.

Therefore, this Court specifically finds that there is a level to which the defendant's conduct was influenced by mental or emotional disturbances sufficient to be considered as a non-statutory mitigating circumstance.

(R. 1001-1004).

It is evident from the well-reasoned sentencing order that Street was appropriately sentenced to death.

XVII

STREET FAILED TO PRESERVE HIS OBJECTION TO THE JURY INSTRUCTION ON HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, AND CRUEL.

Appellant's final claim is that the jury instruction for the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious, and cruel (HAC) was improper under <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 505 U.S. _____, 112 S.Ct. _____, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992). However, this claim has been waived because Street failed to preserve his objection to the instruction in the trial court. <u>Sochor v. Florida</u>, 504 U.S. _____, 112 S.Ct. _____, 119 L.Ed.2d 326 (1992).

Defense counsel did not file a written request for a special instruction on HAC, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(c), and

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